RECEIVED

SUPREME COURT OF WISCON

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

GOLDEN SANDS DAIRY LLC,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

ELLIS INDUSTRIES SARATOGA, LLC,

Plaintiff,

v.

Appeal No. 2015AP001258

TOWN OF SARATOGA, TERRY A. RICKABY, DOUGLAS PASSINEAU, PATTY HEEG, JOHN FRANK AND DAN FORBES,

Defendants-Appellants

RURAL MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Intervenor.

Review of April 13, 2017 Decision of the Court of Appeals, District IV, Appeal No. 2015AP001258

Wood County Circuit Court Case No. 12-CV-0389, The Honorable Thomas Eagon Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS TOWN OF SARATOGA ET AL.

INTRODUCTION

This case is about the scope of an exception to the general rule that no one has a vested right to existing zoning. In particular, the issue is whether the "Building Permit Exception" recently discussed in *McKee Family I, LLC v. City of Fitchburg*, 2017 WI 34, 374 Wis. 2d 487, 893 N.W.2d 12, applies to properties other than the property for which the building permit has been sought. Golden Sands argues that its building permit application for seven buildings on a 98-acre parcel automatically extends to more than 6,000 off-site acres scattered throughout the Town of Saratoga (Town) because it claims such lands are "integral to" or "associated with" the buildings. This position is contrary to case law and recently enacted statutes.

Although this issue has not been directly addressed in Wisconsin case law, in *McKee* this Court made it clear that the Building Permit Exception is a bright line that is intended to avoid case-by-case determinations. Golden Sands' interpretation conflicts with that approach. Contrary to the ruling in *McKee*, Golden Sands' argument – that vested rights extend to any parcels beyond the building site which it deems "integral" to the building – would require the courts to determine on a case-by-case basis what is integral and what is not.

Recent statutory law *has* directly addressed this issue. The Legislature created an equally bright line, even if a broader one than common law. The statute allows a vested right to extend to "a specific and identifiable land development that occurs on *defined and adjacent parcels* of land" identified in the building permit or local approval application. Wis. Stat. § 66.10015. Thus, to the extent amicus parties are concerned about future projects that cross into adjacent parcels, that concern has been addressed. However, Golden Sands' position conflicts with this statute. Golden Sands urges this Court to remove the statutory "adjacency" provision and extend vested rights to any lands an applicant deems integral no matter how attenuated or distant they are from the building site. Indeed, the Legislature expressly considered and rejected the position Golden Sands is now taking. As a matter of statutory interpretation and separation of powers, this Court should not expand a common law rule and effectively overturn the statutory provision adopted by the Legislature.

It is equally important to clarify what this case is *not* about. Golden Sands' assertion that the court of appeals held a building permit only authorizes the construction – but not the use – of the approved buildings is a rhetorical straw man. For purposes of zoning, Golden Sands' vested right to construct the dairy buildings on the 98-acre parcel includes the right to use them as dairy buildings, and the Town has never argued otherwise. As the court of appeals stated, "The dispute here is over the non-building-site acres. The Town does not contest Golden Sands' right to use the 100-acre parcel as a building site." Slip Op. ¶5. In fact, the court of appeals assumed for purposes of its analysis, "that a vested right to a building permit carries with it the right to use the building in a manner consistent with the nature of the building..." *Id.* ¶20.

In addition, this case is not about vested rights arising from "actual and active" use. Had Golden Sands opted to use some of its lands for agricultural purposes prior to

the enactment of the zoning ordinance in November 2012, it might have been able to establish a nonconforming use. But, that is not the case. It is undisputed that Golden Sands was not using any of its land for agricultural purposes in November 2012. R. 63 (Hoefer Aff., Ex. A). At the time of the building permit application, the proposed cropland was pine plantation subject to the Wisconsin Managed Forest Law which precluded such use. *Id.* Any attempt by Golden Sands to argue that it meets such a test is not only too late, but wholly contrary to the undisputed facts.

Golden Sands' novel theory that vested rights extend to any off-site property beyond the building site, is not only contrary to Wisconsin law, but is contrary to the very interests it espouses – certainty and protection of property rights. If the Court adopts Golden Sands' interpretation, such a theory would create uncertainty in two ways: (1) common law will require a case-by-case determination of what lands are "integral" to the building permit and (2) it will create a direct conflict between the recently enacted statute and common law. In addition, Golden Sands' theory will undermine property rights by eviscerating the ability of zoning to protect the property rights of the existing property owners in the Town.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Town Development of Zoning

Contrary to Golden Sands' assertion that the Town "conceived and in a rush codified that change [zoning] in direct reaction to Golden Sands' filing" (Pet. Br. at 16), the development of the Town's zoning ordinance started in 2001. Among the key drivers for zoning were two basic geologic facts that existed long before the advent of Golden Sands' application: the Town has soils highly susceptible to groundwater contamination, and its 5,000 residents rely on private wells for their drinking water. R. 63 (Hoefer Aff., Ex. D, Town Zoning Ordinance §1.4).

The Town of Saratoga, located on the southeast corner of Wood County, is about 31,921 acres (50 sq. mi.) in size with predominant land uses being woodlands owned by private landholders, residential subdivisions, limited agriculture (including cranberry bogs), commercial developments and open spaces. R. 67 (Reginato Aff. Ex. C, Comprehensive Plan p. 1).¹ Survey crews in 1851 gave the following description of the area:

The Character of this town is easily described. It is a uniform pine barren. Soil white sand. Poor & worthless for all farming purposes. The timber poor scrubby Pitch pines & there is not probably a single quarter section in it worth Entering either for soil or timber.²

¹ "History of Wood County, Wisconsin" (1923) p. 41 (http://content.wisconsinhistory.org/cdm/ref/collection/wch/id/39243) (last visited 10/31/17).

² Board of Commissioners of Public Lands, "Interior Field Notes (Sept. 1851)," <u>http://digicoll.library.wisc.edu/cgi-bin/SurveyNotes/SurveyNotes-idx?type=article&byte</u> <u>=3146767&isize=L&twp=T021NR006E</u>) (last visited 10/31/17).

The lack of agriculture in this area is not just history, but the reality Golden Sands faces. All of the land in the Town which Golden Sands proposes to use for its operations was pine plantation land owned by Plum Creek Timber Company, Inc. ("Plum Creek"). R. 86 (Decision Tr. p. 72). In fact, at the time of the building permit application, this land was enrolled in the Wisconsin DNR's Managed Forest Land (MFL) program which precludes agricultural uses. R. 63 (Hoefer Aff., Ex. A). As the trial court found, "[t]he most recent application to the DNR indicates that it will continue to be used in that fashion for another 50 years." R. 86 (Decision Tr. pp. 16-17).

In addition, because of its sandy soils, the U.S. Geological Survey has characterized the Town of Saratoga as highly susceptible to groundwater contamination.³ This is a particular concern because the 5,000 residents of the Town are dependent on private wells for their drinking water. *Id.*, Ex. D.

Against this background, the Town developed its "Comprehensive Plan 2007-2027" (Comprehensive Plan) starting in 2001.⁴ R. 67 (Aff. Reginato, Ex. D, 11/29/12 and 11/30/12 Mandamus Transcript p. 510). The Comprehensive Plan process began with community surveys. By July 2006, the Plan Commission again discussed major concerns regarding development, preservation of natural resources and retaining open

³ dnr.wi.gov/education/documents/groundwater/susceptibilityMap.pdf. (last visited 10/31/17).

⁴ These early efforts coincided with the Wisconsin's comprehensive planning program, known as the "Smart Growth" initiative, created by 1999 Wisconsin Act 9. *See* R. 67 (Reginato Aff. Ex. C, Comprehensive Plan p. 1 & 3).

space, including the discouragement of large/heavy agricultural uses in forested and rural preservation lands. *Id.*, pp. 496-497, 500-502. After years of work by the Plan Commission, on August 15, 2007, the Town adopted its final Comprehensive Plan which set as its goal to have a zoning ordinance in place within five years (i.e. August 2012). *Id.*, pp. 526, 528. Upon adoption of the Plan, the Town began working on the zoning ordinance implementing the visions of the Comprehensive Plan. *Id.*, p. 502. By 2011, and into April 2012, the Plan Commission continued discussing, reviewing and considering approval of a draft zoning ordinance. *Id.*, p. 503. In the final year of its planning, the Plan Commission received pressure from its County Board Supervisor to meet the August 2012 deadline and therefore began circulation of zoning ordinance drafts by April 2012, proceeding in its work from zoning "definitions" to the zoning plan itself. *Id.*, p. 504-506, 526.

The Town had not yet completed the ordinance as of June 6, 2012, when Golden Sands filed its building permit application. In response to Golden Sands' application, the Town promptly enacted a Moratorium on the issuance of building permits to allow the ongoing zoning process to be completed and prevent the development of land uses inconsistent with the Plan. R. 86 (Decision Tr. pp. 62-63). Subsequently, the Town completed its zoning ordinance, which became effective on November 14, 2012. *Id.*, pp. 62-63.

In short, this is not a case where a proposed use was consistent with existing land use and the local government arbitrarily decided to change the rules. To the contrary,

the Town was attempting to preserve existing land uses in accordance with its longstanding land use plan. In particular, the Town implemented longstanding goals of the Comprehensive Plan to protect its residents' drinking water and property rights.

B. Golden Sands' Planning for the Dairy.

Golden Sands overstates its investment and its due diligence. It is true that, at the time the building permit was submitted, the Town's zoning was not yet enacted. But, the Town's deliberations regarding the draft zoning ordinance were the subject of numerous public meetings subject to public notice. Indeed, the Comprehensive Plan's schedule sought zoning by 2012 and, to that end, ongoing Plan Commission meetings considered drafts of zoning. R. 67 (Aff. Reginato, Ex. D, 11/29/12 and 11/30/12 Mandamus Transcript p. 498, 502-507, 517, 520-521, 526-527, 528); R. 86 (Decision Tr. p. 62). Mr. Wysocki, the chief financial officer of Golden Sands was well aware of the Town's Comprehensive Plan, those plan commission meetings and the controversy surrounding large agricultural operations in the Town and elsewhere. R. 67 (Aff. Reginato, Ex. D, 11/29/12 and 11/30/12 Mandamus Transcript p. 25-27, 29, 140-146, 159). R.App. 137-150. He helped develop Wisconsin's Agricultural Siting Law, and fully understood that large-scale agricultural use was discouraged in this area. *Id.*

While Golden Sands claims it spent "several months" preparing its application, it chose not to consult the Town at any time prior to its submittal. *Id.*, pp. 27, 29-30, 159, 162-163. R. App 137-150. Mr. Wysocki of Golden Sands also admitted that he was aware the proposed dairy would be controversial and face opposition. *Id.*, p. 29.

Thus, as the circuit court observed, Golden Sands felt it "needed to keep their plans secret until they were ready to file." R. 86 (Decision Tr. p. 18). In effect, Golden Sands took a calculated risk that it could get its application in before Town zoning could be completed.⁵

Moreover, the calculated risk it took was less than it now represents. Golden Sands' assertion that in 2012 its "investment in the Farm included acquisition of 6,388 acres of land" (Pet. Br. at 2) is misleading. The amount of Plum Creek land actually acquired by Golden Sands remains unclear. Golden Sands claims it paid Plum Creek for "a significant portion of the Property," but "the balance of the Property remains under contract with Plum Creek." R. 59 (Wysocki Aff. ¶12). As late as 2014, the MFL lands actually owned by Ellis Industries Saratoga LLC (Golden Sands' land affiliate) comprised only 1,117 acres.⁶

C. Golden Sands' Building Permit Application.

Golden Sands asserts that the building permit application "documented a geographic area defined with specificity" and "plainly identified the 'Project Location' and 'Lot area' as the '6,388 ac.'" Pet. Br. at 9, 12. Again, the actual documents tell a different story.

⁵ Golden Sands complains about the Town racing to finish zoning, but as the aforementioned hearing testimony makes clear, it was Mr. Wysocki who rushed to beat the Town's impending zoning change, knowing the Town expressed hostility to his proposed use in the Comprehensive Plan.

⁶ Golden Sands, LLC was "in the business of developing, owning and operating a dairy farm in the Town" and Ellis Industries Saratoga LLC, "is in the business of developing, owning and operating irrigated vegetable and potato production ... in the Town." R. 18, Complaint ¶¶ 1-2. Jim Wysocki is the manager for both LLCs. *Id*.

First, the original building permit application form stated that the "Area Involved" is "7 building structures." R. 67, Ex. A; R-App. 101. Although the application form generically lists the "Project Location" as "6,338 ac," the legal description on the form only describes the building site. The attached Design Report, which contains the actual drawings of the buildings, listed the "Site Location" with a specific legal description comprising approximately 98 acres. *Id.*, R-App. 102-114. The amended building permit application dated July 17, 2012, includes an attachment unambiguously entitled "Building Permit Application – Legal Description." Again, it describes approximately 98 acres, not 6,000+ acres, as the building site, to wit:

BUILDING PERMIT APPLICATION – LEGAL DESCRIPTION

Southwest ¼ of Southeast 1/4 of Section 20, Town 21 North, Range 6 East, Saratoga, Wood County Southeast ¼ of Southwest ¼ of Section 20, Town 21 North, Range 6 East, Saratoga, Wood County East ½ of southwest ¼ of Southwest ¼ of Section 20, Town 21 North, Range 6 East, Saratoga, Wood County

R.18, (Complaint, Ex. G); R-App 115-116.⁷ The limited legal description in the building permit is consistent with the fact that the building permit application and the Design Report were submitted by Golden Sands LLC, the dairy operation, not Ellis Industries Saratoga LLC, the cropland operation.

Golden Sands apparently recognizes the significance of the limited scope of its

⁷ Generally, a "quarter-quarter" section is 40 acres. *See* Wisconsin DNR, "Tutorial on the Public Land Survey System," p. 3, <u>http://dnr.wi.gov/topic/forestmanagement/documents/plsstutorial.pdf</u> (last visited 10/31/17). Thus, two "quarter-quarter" sections plus a half of a quarter section would be 100 acres.

building permit application because it tries to hide the relevant facts. Golden Sands' Appendix fails to include the amended building permit application which has the legal description noted above. In addition, Golden Sands included portions of the Design Report, but omits page one, which is entitled "Key Information" and contains the legal description which lists the Site Location as 98 acres (Compare P-App 59-64 and R-App. 102-114).

In order to get to 6,388 acres or any legal description beyond the Building Site, one needs to look not to the building permit, but to copies of a map and state permit applications such as the Nutrient Management Plan. Pet. Br. at 9. Golden Sands submitted these documents to the Town "as a courtesy." R. 59 (Wysocki Aff. ¶ 15), not for the purpose of seeking approval of the building permit.

Second, Golden Sands repeatedly stressed in the first lawsuit against the Town that the only issue before the Town involved the building permit, not the state permits. This first lawsuit involved a mandamus action, referred to as *Golden Sands I. See Golden Sands Dairy, LLC v. Fuehrer*, No. 2013AP1468, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. July 24, 2014). During the initial litigation in *Golden Sands I –* from the opening statement to closing argument – Golden Sands adamantly argued that the scope of the building permit application was limited to "seven buildings." Golden Sands' counsel began the first hearing describing what Golden Sands sought in terms of a building permit from the Town:

Mr. Hemaidan: Your Honor, I have a brief opening statement about what this case is about. On June 6th, Golden Sands applied for a building permit from the Town of Saratoga for seven buildings...

Golden Sands didn't apply to the Town to construct and operate a dairy. That's for someone else. That's for the State.

And as we discussed at length on Tuesday, and as we briefed the Court further yesterday, the operation aspects of a dairy are strictly regulated by DNR. So, the only issue before the town was the building permit for the buildings. (Emphasis added)

R. 67 (Aff. Reginato, Ex. D, 11/29/12 and 11/30/12 Mandamus Transcript p. 9-10). In

the argument prior to the circuit court's decision, Golden Sands continued this theme -

the building permit application was only about the seven buildings:

Mr. Hemaidan. This case is about seven buildings, the construction of seven buildings on a piece of land that for 75 years, lay within an unrestricted zoning district....

What is this case not about? It's not about whether the dairy is a good idea. It's not about its environmental impact, the water quality, the manure storage, the wells. Even whether the buildings could someday become empty of fall into disuse. It's not about land use.

R. 67 (Reginato Aff., Ex. E, Writ of Mandamus Decision Tr. p. 10).

Thus, Golden Sands' argument that the building permit was always about the ancillary farm land is at best disingenuous. Golden Sands wants it both ways. When it was trying to obtain the building permit and needed to demonstrate a complete approvable application, Golden Sands focused just on the seven buildings on 98 acres but specifically and repeatedly excluded the associated lands. Once it had the building permit, it then argued that the associated lands referenced in the state permits were part of the building permit.

Third, to the extent Golden Sands attempts to use the state permit applications to define the scope of the building permit application, the state permit applications do not provide "a geographic area defined with specificity" as Golden Sands now claims.

Pet. Br. at 12. The circuit court expressly found to the contrary:

To the extent that Golden Sands Dairy is using the state permits to define the scope of the building permit, such permit applications do not provide sufficient specificity as to the scope of the project because the scope of the project in those applications has already been changed and no final approval has been granted.

In particular, the ability of Golden Sands Dairy to utilize crop land for spreading of the manure, the area and location of the land-spreading parcels require the approval of the Nutrient Management Plan by the DNR and no approval has been granted. (Emphasis added.)

Decision Tr. pp. 73-74. Thus, there is no way to tell, from looking at the state application, precisely what lands will ultimately be used for the project other than the 98 acres described in the building permit application.

D. The Proposed Golden Sands Project.

Golden Sands describes its proposed project in bucolic terms that overstates its "integration" and understates its proposed impact. Golden Sands proposes to build a facility that would include 5,300 animals concentrated on a 98-acre parcel and would produce 55 million gallons per year of liquid manure in addition to tons of solid manure on an annual basis. R. 63 (Hoefer Aff., Ex. C). Further, Golden Sands proposes to clear-cut 4,660 acres of pine plantation in the Town, convert it to cropland and use that cropland to dispose of its massive quantities of manure. R. 86 (Decision Tr. pp. 70-74). This physical transformation of the community is of no small concern to the existing residences and businesses because, as noted above, the Town is in an area designated as highly susceptible to groundwater contamination because of its sandy soils and its 5,000 residents' reliance on shallow wells for drinking water.

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