STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

09-23-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP001258

GOLDEN SANDS DAIRY, LLC.

Plaintiff-Respondent,

ELLIS INDUSTRIES SARATOGA, LLC,

Plaintiff,

v.

TOWN OF SARATOGA, TERRY A. RICKABY, DOUGLAS PASSINEAU, PATTY HEEG, JOHN FRANK AND DAN FORBES,

Defendants-Appellants,

RURAL MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Intervenor.

RESPONSE BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT GOLDEN SANDS DAIRY, LLC

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Wood County The Honorable Thomas Eagon Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 12-CV-0389 Submitted by:

MICHAEL BEST & FRIEDRICH LLP

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

ARGUMENT

In Wisconsin, a vested right to construct buildings carries with it a vested right to *use* the land identified in the application for the purposes associated with the buildings. Wisconsin law does not limit that use to the building site itself. Rather, cases consistent with Wisconsin's building

permit-based approach to vested rights instruct that vested rights extend to the land uses associated with the buildings as described in the building permit application.

That is precisely the approach the trial court followed in granting summary judgment to Golden Sands. The undisputed record is that the Farm was conceived, developed and applied for as an integrated, interdependent whole. (R. 86: 82-83.) The circuit court correctly concluded that the agricultural use to which all of the Farm property will be put is not susceptible to any legally relevant division for vested rights purposes. The Town failed on summary judgment to provide any evidence to support the assertion – central to the arguments in advances in this appeal – that the Court should view the Farm as a collection of legally distinct uses, but it did not. Rather, as the trial court concluded, the Farm is an integrated, interdependent whole. (R. 86: 82.)

As shown below, Wisconsin's vested rights law is built upon two primary principles that support the trial court's conclusion that Golden Sands acquired vested rights to agricultural use of the Farm property. First, a building permit application is the temporal trigger at which vested rights are evaluated, not only for the construction of buildings, but for

the use of the property the buildings will serve. Second, the submission of a complete building permit application that complies in all respects with then-existing building and zoning laws gives rise to vested rights in the full extent of the land use that is described in the application and is integrally connected with the proposed buildings that are the subject of the application. Golden Sands satisfies both of these requirements. It spent enormous resources doing so in reliance on the long-standing "unrestricted" zoning classification of the Farm property. And, the trial court correctly concluded that the Town zoning scheme enacted after and in direct reaction to Golden Sands' building permit application could not be used to deprive Golden Sands of its legitimate investment backed expectations.

I. <u>THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY</u> <u>PROCEEDED FROM THE PRINCIPLE THAT A</u> <u>COMPLETE BUILDING PERMIT</u> <u>APPLICATION SERVES AS THE TEMPORAL</u> <u>TRIGGER FOR VESTED RIGHTS IN LAND</u> <u>USE.</u>

It was conclusively established in the Building Permit Litigation, and not disputed in this case, that Golden Sands timely submitted to the Town a complete building permit application that complied fully with all existing requirements, including any applicable zoning requirements, and that it did so prior to the Town's enactment of the Moratorium, the Interim Zoning Ordinance, and the Permanent Zoning Ordinance. (R. 60, Ex. A: 65, Ex. B, \P 67).

Both the Town and Golden Sands appear to agree on the threshold proposition that the submission of a complete and legally compliant building permit application is the temporal focus of a vested rights analysis in Wisconsin. *Lake Bluff Housing Partners v. City of S. Milwaukee*, 197 Wis. 2d 157, 172, 540 N.W.2d 189 (1995). Wisconsin is in a minority of jurisdictions that clearly recognizes the vesting of rights to a given land use at the earliest point in time – upon the submission of a complete and fully-compliant building permit application. 4 Arden H. Rathkopf & Daren A. Rathkopf, *Law of Zoning and Planning* § 70:16 (2014).

The state of Washington also follows this approach. *Valley View Indus. Park v. City of Redmond*, 107 Wn. 2d 621, 637, 733 P.2d 182 (1987) (holding that the right to a building permit, and thus, the land use associated with it, vests upon submission of a complete and compliant application). The Washington Supreme Court observed the building permit application is a useful tool for determining vested rights,

because it provides a date certain upon which courts can determine rights have vested. *Hull v. Hunt*, 53 Wn. 2d 125, 130, 331 P.2d 856 (1958) ("Notwithstanding the weight of authority [supporting the majority view], we prefer to have a date certain upon which the right vests").

In *Valley View*, the Washington Supreme Court held that "a developer's right to develop in accordance with a particular zoning designation vests only if the developer files a building permit application that (1) is sufficiently complete, (2) complies with existing zoning ordinances and building codes, and (3) is filed during the effective period of the zoning ordinances under which the developer seeks to develop." *Valley View*, 107 Wn. 2d at 638. This approach is consistent with Wisconsin's in cases like *Lake Bluff*.

While the Town appears to accept the general proposition that vested rights in land use are determined by filing of a complete building permit application, it seeks to arbitrarily limit the vested rights of Golden Sands to a portion of the Farm property. The Town concedes that the filing of the Building Permit Application entitles Golden Sands to the right to use the buildings for agricultural purposes but argues, incorrectly, that Golden Sands' vested rights in agricultural

use must stop at the borders of the barn yard and cannot extend to the rest of the Farm property identified in the Building Permit Application. (App. Br. 17-30.) As demonstrated next, Wisconsin vested rights law admits of no such limitation.

II. <u>THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED</u> <u>THAT IN FILING A COMPLETE BUILDING</u> <u>PERMIT APPLICATION GOLDEN SANDS</u> <u>ACQUIRED A VESTED RIGHT IN</u> <u>AGRICULTURAL USE OF THE FARM AS A</u> <u>WHOLE, NOT THE FARM BUILDINGS ALONE.</u>

In seeking to limit Golden Sands' vested rights to agricultural use to the ground on which the buildings will be constructed, the Town makes three legal arguments: (i) that a property owner has no vested right to rely on existing zoning; (ii) that the "building permit exception" does not apply to land and land uses for which no building permit is required, and; (iii) that vested rights do not extend to "ancillary" "offsite" uses of property. (App. Br. 18-24.) None of these arguments displace the common law principle that vested rights derived from a building permit application extend to integral use of the project land that is described within the building permit application and integrally related to the use of those buildings. Failing success on these arguments, the Town asks the Court to limit Golden Sands' vested rights on grounds that the scope of Golden Sands' Building Permit Application was strictly limited to the seven buildings. This assertion directly contradicts the undisputed summary judgment record, and therefore cannot form the basis for disturbing the trial court's decision.

A. <u>The Cases The Town Relies On For The</u> <u>Proposition That There Is No Vested Rights</u> <u>In Existing Zoning Are Inapposite.</u>

The Town opens its brief with the unqualified assertion that a property owner has no vested rights to existing zoning. (App. Br. 14-17.) In support, the Town cites *Eggebeen v. Sonnenburg*, 239 Wis. 213, 1 N.W.2d 84 (1941), where the court held that residents of a single-family neighborhood who opposed the rezoning of a nearby property for an apartment house had acquired no vested rights against rezoning merely because of their own reliance upon the original zoning. Golden Sands' claim is nothing like that in *Eggebeen.* Here, the issue is whether Golden Sands' acquired vested rights to agricultural use of the Farm property when it submitted its complete Building Permit Application to the Town seeking approval to construct buildings so that the entirety of the Farm property could be developed as an

agricultural use. The Town also cites *Buhler v. Racine County*, 33 Wis. 2d 137, 146 N.W.2d 403 (1966), a case in which the court declined to reverse a county's refusal to rezone a parcel of land from residential to commercial zoning. *Buhler* is thus also inapposite to the issue in this case. The issue in this case is whether Golden Sands' rights vested in the "unrestricted" zoning classification when it submitted a complete Building Permit Application that complied with all building and zoning laws then in existence.

To be sure, Golden Sands asserts it acquired vested rights to use the Farm property consistent with the existing zoning unrestricted zoning classification, but that claim is based squarely on Golden Sands' submission of a complete building permit application. Because neither *Eggebeen* nor *Buhler* involved the application of the vested rights doctrine based on the submission of a building permit application, those cases provide no useful guidance in this appeal.

B. <u>That No Building Permit Was Required For</u> <u>Agricultural Use Of The Farm Property</u> <u>Other Than The Buildings Is Legally</u> <u>Immaterial.</u>

The Town argues that because no building permit was required for the land use itself, but only for construction of

the buildings, Golden Sands cannot acquire a vested right to agricultural use of the surrounding Farm property but only on the specific portion of the Farm property where the buildings will be located. (App. Br. 19.) The Town offers no authority for this specific proposition. Instead, it asks the Court to indulge in the simplistic notion that "building permits are required for buildings, not for land uses for which there are no buildings." In making this argument, the Town promotes a fiction that carries through its entire presentation – that the agricultural use of Golden Sands' farm buildings is somehow divorced from Golden Sands' agricultural use of the remainder of the Farm property. This fiction is belied by the undisputed record. Golden Sands' Farm is an integrated farming operation and was intended to be from the start. Golden Sands made enormous investments in the development of the Farm as an integrated whole. Golden Sands did so in reliance on the unrestricted zoning classification of the Farm property.

In positing its novel rule that vested rights arising from a building permit application cannot encompass vested rights in anything other than the intended use of the buildings themselves, the Town ignores the central dispute in nearly all

of Wisconsin's vested rights cases is ultimately about the right to use the land in a way permitted under then-existing zoning law. In Rosenberg v. Village of Whitefish Bay, 199 Wis. 214, 225 N.W. 838 (1929), the Supreme Court considered whether the property owner had acquired vested rights to use the land for hotel or apartment purposes. In State ex rel. Schroedel v. Pagels, 257 Wis. 376, 43 N.W.2d 349 (1950), the Supreme Court considered whether the property owner had acquired vested rights to use the land for a garden-apartment complex. In Des Jardin v. Town of Greenfield, 262 Wis. 43, 53 N.W.2d 784 (1952), the Supreme Court considered whether the land owner had a vested right to use his land for residential living in a trailer. In *Town of* Cross Plains v. Kitt's "Field of Dreams" Korner, Inc., 2009 WI App 142, 321 Wis. 2d 671, 775 N.W.2d 283, the Court of Appeals considered whether the tavern operator had a vested right to use the property for providing adult entertainment. There is simply no basis in Wisconsin law for the Town's attempt to bifurcate the vested rights analysis into the construction and use of buildings on the one hand, and the integrally dependent use of the land associated with those buildings on the other.

C. <u>The Trial Court Properly Treated The Farm</u> <u>As A Single Integrated Project For Vested</u> <u>Rights Purposes.</u>

The Town argues that the agricultural use of the buildings should be cleaved from the agricultural use of the associated Farm property for purposes of assessing Golden Sands' vested rights. Specifically, the Town argues that use of the lands surrounding the buildings for crop production to feed the livestock and to fertilize the crops with nutrients produced by the livestock is an "ancillary off-site" use or an "expansion" of the agricultural use. (App. Br. 14-17, 20.)

Adopting this characterization would require complete abandonment of the undisputed summary judgment record upon which the trial court relied. That record demonstrates the Farm's crop fields to be part of an integrated agricultural operation, not an "ancillary" use. The trial court emphasized this fact for purposes of assessing Golden Sands' vested rights:

> The use of the acreage that is described [in the building permit application] is integral to the farm operation that was described [in the building permit application] and, therefore, Golden Sands has a vested use in what was allowed at the time the building was applied for, which was agricultural use.

(R. 86: 89.) Golden Sands submitted abundant evidence for this ultimate proposition, the Town never disputed it, and the trial court adopted it as central to its decision.

Specific evidence of the integrated relationship between the use of the proposed buildings and the rest of the Farm property is found throughout the summary judgment record. Together with its complete and compliant Building Permit Application, Golden Sands submitted to the Town:

- A copy of its WPDES Permit application that would regulate discharges from both the dairy production facility and the application of manure to the crop fields on the Farm property;
- A proposed Nutrient Management Plan which detailed the proposed fields for crop production and application of manure nutrients to the crops;
- Applications for several high capacity well approvals for wells that the Farm will need to irrigate the crop fields on the Farm;
- An Environmental Analysis Questionnaire for the Farm describing the farming operation as a whole; and
- The Wood County Animal Waste Storage Facility permit.

(R. 60, Exs. D, E.)

Both the Building Permit Application and the copies of these

other applications, disclosed to the Town the full geographic

and substantive extent of the proposed use of the Farm property as an integrated dairy and crop agriculture project. (R. 86: 82-83.) Even the building permit application form that Golden Sands submitted to the Town on June 6, 2012 included a description of the lot area as 6,338 acres, and attached to the back of the application form a map which showed both the building site and the portions of the Farm property which Golden Sands planned to grow crops and apply manure fertilizer. (R. 59, Ex. A; R. 60, Ex. B, App. 001-019.)

The Environmental Assessment Questionnaire and the Nutrient Management Plan both contained hundreds of pages of maps of the fields that would be used to grow crops that would be fertilized with manure produced by the Farm's livestock; SNAP-Plus reports for soil types, slopes, phosphorus, tolerable soil loss, and nutrient applications through 2017, fifteen pages of narrative describing the nutrients Golden Sands would generate and its plan to manage those nutrients on the acreage proposed for conversion; and a full description of the Farming Full Circle practices Golden Sands would implement on those fields. (R. 60, Ex. D, Vol. D-1, App. 016-019.) The Environmental

Analysis Questionnaire also explained the fully-integrated

nature of the Farm:

This proposal is for a new operation – Golden Sands Dairy, LLC – that will integrate dairy farming into newly developed irrigated potato and vegetable production land. It follows the model and practices established at Central Sands Dairy, LLC built in Juneau County, Wisconsin. This project will include building structures and equipment to house dairy cows, store and manage feed inputs and manure/organic fertilizer, a milking center and a farm office.

This proposal is environmentally-sized to allow for advanced manure handling and nutrient recycling systems. Dairy crop production enhances the sustainable farming methods of potato production systems. These practices reduce wind erosion by utilizing limited tillage practices on the field corn silage crops and having multiple years in alfalfa production in each rotation. Further, soils organic properties are built through the conversion of pine plantation to irrigated farm land and the addition of organic fertilizer and manure solids to further reduce wind erosion.

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